### COURT OF APPEALS NO. 47477-8-II

THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WA DIVISION TWO	ASHINGTON,
DARREL HARRIS,	
Appellant,	
v.	2015 B STAT
STATE OF WASHINGTON,	2015 DEC 21 STATE OF 1
Respondent.	77 77 77
ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT O STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COU	JF 1 HE
The Honorable Vicki Hogan, Judge	
CORRECTED BRIEF OF APPELLANT	
•	MES R. DIXON

JAMES R. DIXON Attorney for Appellant

Dixon & Cannon, Ltd. 601 Union Street, Suite 3230 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 957-2247

51-81-21Wd

£ 2.2

###

### I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The court erred in excluding the video surveillance tape showing the appellant and the complaining witnesses in the hours following the alleged sexual assault.
- 2. The court erred in excluding testimony from a private investigator which would have corroborated appellant's testimony that there was no door or doorframe on appellant's bedroom, contrary to what the complaining witness testified.
- 3. The court violated appellant's Sixth Amendment right to be present in court when the court ordered appellant to remain "emotionless" in trial.
- 4. The prosecutor deprived the appellant of a fair trial when she told the jurors that the State would only be able to prosecute 1% of the rape cases if corroborating evidence was required.
- 5. The prosecutor deprived the appellant of a fair trial when she told the jurors that cases with similar evidence are prosecuted all of the time.
- 6. The prosecutor deprived the appellant of a fair trial when she misrepresented the law by telling the jurors they had sworn an oath not to require the State to produce corroborating evidence.

- 7. The prosecutor deprived the appellant of a fair trial when she suggested to the jury that the State would be unable to protect children from sexual abuse if the jury was unwilling to accept the child's word without corroborating evidence.
- 8. The prosecutor misrepresented the jury's function by telling the jury to disregard the lack of corroborating evidence and just focus on whether they believe the girl.
- 9. The prosecutor deprived appellant of a fair trial when she expressed her personal opinion as to the appellant's guilt.
- 10. Appellant's right to effective assistance of counsel was violated when defense counsel failed to object to the repeated instances of prosecutorial misconduct in closing.
- 11. Cumulative error deprived appellant of his right to a fair trial.

### **Issues Pertaining to the Assignments of Error**

1. KM, a 25-year-old woman, claimed she was sexually assaulted by her uncle on the morning of November 6, 2013. KM claimed that in the following hours and days she was in shock, terrified for her life, and nearly hysterical. Her uncle's house had outside security cameras. It recorded interactions between KM and appellant from that morning and later in the afternoon, and shows KM behaving normally. The defense

sought to introduce footage that showed KM calling her uncle over to give him a hug before he left for work. Did the court violate appellant's Sixth Amendment right to present evidence and confront witnesses when it ruled the footage was not relevant?

- 2. JJ, KM's five-year-old daughter, claimed that appellant carried her into his room, shut the door, and molested her. Appellant testified that there was no door or doorframe on his bedroom. The defense had previously hired a private investigator to examine the rooms, and corroborate the lack of doors and doorframes. The court excluded the investigator's testimony, ruling that it was cumulative to appellant's own testimony. As anticipated, appellant's testimony was vigorously attacked by the State. Did the court violate appellant's right to present a defense when it excluded this defense witness?
- 3. The judge told appellant that he must remain "emotion-less" in court and that he must not emote while at counsel table. Requiring appellant to remain stone-faced and indifferent to the accusations made against him would have made appellant appear callous and uncaring to the jury. Did the judge violate appellant's Sixth Amendment right to be fully present at trial, when the court ordered him to alter his demeanor before the jury?

- 4. The prosecutor engaged in flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct throughout closing argument. The prosecutor repeatedly warned that children could not be protected if the jury was unwilling to accept the word of a child without corroboration. The prosecutor told the jury that cases similar to this are prosecuted all of the time, and that if the law required corroboration, the State could only prosecute 1% of its rape cases. The prosecutor expressed her personal opinion on the evidence and told the jury that they had sworn an oath to follow the law, and the law did not require corroboration of a girl's testimony. Did this flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct deprive appellant of a fair trial?
- 5. In the alternative, did defense counsel's failure to object to any of this rampant misconduct constitute ineffective assistance of counsel?
  - 6. Did cumulative error deprive appellant of a fair trial?

### II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

### 1. PROCEDURAL FACTS

The Pierce County Prosecutor charged Darrel Harris with one count of child rape in the first degree and one count of child molestation in the first degree, both alleged to have been committed against JJ. CP 1-2. The prosecutor also charged Mr. Harris with one count of indecent liberties, alleged to have been committed against KM, the child's mother. *Id:* 

CP 3-4. Mr. Harris entered pleas of not guilty. By amended information, the State added an aggravating factor of domestic violence. CP 142-143.

As JJ was six years old at the time of trial, and five years old at the time of the alleged assault, a child hearsay hearing was held. The court determined that JJ was competent to testify and that her statements to other people were all admissible. CP 50-52.

A jury trial commenced on February 9, 2015 before the Honorable Vicki Hogan. The Trial concluded on February 25, 2015, when the jury found Mr. Harris guilty on all three counts. CP 113-15. A sentencing hearing was held on April 17, 2015. The court imposed a standard range sentence, and appellant filed this timely appeal. CP 144-159.

### 2. TRIAL TESTIMONY

### a. KM moves into Darrel Harris' house

In the late summer of 2013, Darrel Harris was 48 years old. RP 693. He worked as a property manager and real estate agent and owned a three bedroom house in Puyallup. RP 660, 674. His niece, KM, was 25 years old. She had a five-year-old daughter named JJ. RP 397-98.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The report of proceedings are sequentially numbered with two exceptions. The opening was separately transcribed and is referred to herein as "ORP." Additionally, February 24, 2015 is separately paginated. That transcript, which includes the closing argument, is referred to herein as "CRP."

In September of 2013, KM contacted Mr. Harris and asked him if she could move in for a short while with JJ. She had recently broken up with her boyfriend, and she was trying to get out of a bad situation where she was living. RP 662. Mr. Harris had allowed her to stay with him twice before. *Id.* Feeling bad for her, he agreed to help them out. KM and JJ moved in on September 23, 2013. RP 661.

Although there was no date set for KM to move out, it was understood that the arrangement was temporary until she could get back on her feet. RP 662-63. Mr. Harris set some ground rules, such as: 1) KM must actively seek paid employment, and 2) KM covers JJ's food through KM's food stamps and cash allotment. RP 663. KM moved into the second bedroom and JJ moved into the third.

Mr. Harris grew frustrated with KM over the next six weeks. Although he thought her intentions were good, she was inconsiderate. She did not wash dishes, and Mr. Harris ended up buying disposable plates and cups. RP 677. When Mr. Harris occasionally told KM he was unhappy with the situation, KM would change her ways for a few days, before reverting to her old habits. RP 677-78.

Mr. Harris' frustration continued to build over time. KM constantly asked for money and rides, and meanwhile did nothing around the house. RP 680-81. In late October Mr. Harris wrote KM a note telling her

the situation was unacceptable and that things needed to change. *Id*; Ex. 8. He wanted her to stop asking him for things. RP 681. The note stated, "You are not my companion. You are a roommate. Act like a roommate. Stop borrowing my clothes. Stop asking for rides. Stop acting like a family." Ex. 8; RP 680. Although KM seemed hurt by the note, her behavior and their relationship improved for awhile. RP 681.

On Wednesday, November 6, 2013, Mr. Harris went to work late so he could drive KM to a doctor's appointment. RP 683. The appointment was at 11:00 am, and all three of them left the house a little after 10:00 am. RP 683-84. Following the doctor visit, they stopped for lunch at a restaurant, returning home with leftovers around 3:00 pm. RP 684. Although KM had another doctor's appointment scheduled for the following day, Mr. Harris told her he had already missed too much work and would not be able to drive her. RP 685.

At about 3:15 pm, Mr. Harris was preparing to leave for work and walking towards his car when KM called him back. She was seated outside. KM gestured with her arms for Mr. Harris to pull her up, which he did. She gave him a big hug. RP 385. Mr. Harris then continued on to work. (As discussed below, these interactions were captured on video from an outside security camera, which the judge refused to allow into evidence.)

When Mr. Harris got home that evening, KM and JJ were gone. He received a call from KM telling him that she and JJ were staying at her aunt's that night because her aunt would be able to get her to the doctor's office the next day. KM and JJ did not come back to the house on Thursday. RP 686-87. KM did arrive back at the house Friday afternoon with a friend to pick up her food stamps. Mr. Harris reminded her that it was her turn to pick up groceries once the food stamps arrived. KM said that she would be back shortly and they would go grocery shopping that evening. RP 689. She did not come back, leaving Mr. Harris even more frustrated. The next morning he had to go out to the store to buy groceries to make breakfast. This was the final straw. Mr. Harris called KM on the phone and told her to come pick up her stuff, because she was no longer welcome at the house, RP 689-90. KM later acknowledged that she received that call. That was the last contact Mr. Harris had with either JJ or KM. RP 692.

Mr. Harris explained that at no time did he inappropriately touch either KM or JJ. RP 693.

## b. KM gives a different account of what occurred on November 6<sup>th</sup>.

Deputy Richards of the Pierce County Sheriff's Office was working the late swing shift on November 9, 2013. RP 247. Dispatch had taken

a call from KM, and Deputy Richards was returning that call around 5:45 pm. She told him that her uncle had touched her inappropriately. RP 248. Richards spent approximately twenty to thirty minutes talking to KM, but because she was crying hysterically, it was difficult to make out everything she was saying. Richards suggested she try writing it down, and that he would come by to see her. RP 248-50.

He arrived about a half hour later. KM was still "hysterically crying." RP 251; 258. In fact, compared with other people, KM was "one of the more upset people as far as crying." RP 252. She told Richards that three or four days earlier she had woken to find her uncle, Mr. Harris, sitting on her bed, rubbing her vagina over her pajamas. RP 257. She told him to stop, which he did. Mr. Harris told her that he wanted sex with her twice a week if she was going to live there for free. RP 257. Later that morning she received a note from Mr. Harris telling her that she had better start living up to her end of the bargain if she wanted to stay in the house. RP 255; Ex. 8. KM said that she did not report it earlier because she was fearful of him. RP 252.

While Deputy Richards was speaking with KM, she advised him that her daughter had just recently told her that she also had been touched by Mr. Harris. RP 258, 278. KM had not mentioned this during the telephone call. RP 281. Because Richards did not have any experience in in-

terviewing children, he had KM ask the questions. RP 259. KM told JJ to tell Richards what she had said earlier. *Id.* In response to her mom's questions, JJ said he touched her in "the private spot" with his finger and it hurt. RP 259-60. She said him it happened one time. RP 429.

By the time that KM took the stand at trial, the story had changed. She now testified that Mr. Harris had put his hand inside her pajamas. RP 411. She described how she went outside to the porch to confront Mr. Harris after she found the note, but in her earlier written statement she described finding the note and going into Mr. Harris' room, where he was laying on the bed, to confront him. RP 463, 465. She also testified the reason she waited three days to call the police was that, "I didn't know what to do. I was in such shock." RP 422

At trial, KM stated that she first learned about JJ being touched after Deputy Richards had arrived at the house. KM had been asking JJ everyday since they left whether Mr. Harris had touched her, and that JJ said no. RP 427-28. Then while Deputy Richards was at the house on the 9<sup>th</sup>, KM told JJ that "something bad had happened to mommy. Did Darrel do something to you?" RP 428. At that point JJ said yes. *Id*.

Following JJ's statement, she was subjected to physical examinations and forensic interviews. At that forensic interview with Keri Arnold, JJ jumped right into talking about the abuse. The interviewer acknowledged that this does not usually happen, but it "isn't completely uncommon." RP 542. JJ told the interviewer that it happened 33 times. RP 547. She told the interview that she saw Mr. Harris grab her mother and take her clothes off. RP 568. This did not cause any concerns for Ms. Arnold. *Id.* In fact, because JJ provided some details instead of just repeating the same sentence over and over again, the interviewer had little concern of coaching. RP 549. The interviewer acknowledged her employment at the Pierce County Prosecutor's Office, but assured the jury it did not in any way influence her opinions. RP 577.

The physical examination revealed no physical evidence of abuse. RP 305-06. The examination was normal, including the genital and anal exams. RP 596. The State's medical witnesses testified that lack of physical signs of abuse did not in any way rule out the possibility of abuse. RP 596. JJ's hearsay statements were introduced through KM, JJ's great aunt, and the forensic interviewer.

JJ herself took the stand. The first time she was asked questions about what Darrel had done that she did not like, she stated "I forgot." RP 340. Outside the presence of the jury JJ said she did not want to talk about it that day, and so she was excused. RP 342-45.

The next day JJ took the stand again. RP 386. Before doing so, she watched the video of her earlier forensic interview. RP 391. JJ stated that

Darrel had "touched me in the wrong places. . . girl places" RP 387. JJ said it happened during the day and night. It happened in the living room, her room, and her bedroom. RP 392-93. JJ did not remember what any of those rooms looked like. RP 395.

JJ told her aunt that Mr. Harris came into her room and shut her door while her mom slept. JJ also said that Mr. Harris picked her up, carried her into his room, and shut the door. RP 354-55, 364.

Mr. Harris responded by pointing out that neither his room nor KM's room had a door. RP 666-68. In fact neither bedroom even had a door frame in which a door could be hung. RP 669. Mr. Harris had bought the house three years ago in a state of disrepair and, had been remodeling it since. Because he had lived alone, putting up doors had never been a high priority. *Id.* He did, however, put a door JJ's room when KM and JJ were in the process of moving into the house. *Id.* Because her bed was 80 inches long, however, the door would not close. RP 668. Given the location of KM and JJ's bed, they would be able to see each other from their own bed. *Id.* Mr. Harris produced a scale drawing of the house that he had drawn (Ex. 14) along with pictures. KM disputed much of this, claiming there had been a door on Mr. Harris' room. RP 409-10. She also claimed that JJ's door did close, and that sometimes she would find the door closed. RP 456.

Recognizing that this would be a disputed issue, and that the prosecutor would question Mr. Harris' credibility, the defense had earlier hired a private investigator named Ron Bone to inspect the house and take measurements. Defense counsel told the jury in opening that they would hear from Mr. Bone about the layout of the house and the absence of doors. OCP 17. *Id.* That did not happen.

Prior to Mr. Harris taking the stand the prosecutor moved to exclude the investigator's testimony as cumulative of Mr. Harris' testimony. The defense agreed that the testimony would be similar to the testimony of Mr. Harris, but that it was nevertheless needed: "To be very blunt, it's an independent person that's not the defendant testifying. . . . I think that this is something important that the jury hear that it's not just coming from the accused." RP 619-20. Defense counsel added, "We are not going to spend a lot of time on it, but I think the independence of his investigation, and he may be more specific in terms of measurements and things." RP 620.

The court nevertheless excluded all testimony from the defense investigator on the basis that it was cumulative to Mr. Harris' testimony. RP 621. The court added that the investigator could testify only if Mr. Harris did not take the stand. *Id.* 

As anticipated, the prosecutor crossed examined Mr. Harris extensively about the door, challenging his credibility. She questioned the

choice of the pictures he presented, and questioned him why he did not present other pictures that were taken. RP 696-98. She also questioned him about whether he staged the photographs and whether a door seen in one of the photographs could have fit in his door frame. RP 696-99; CRP 11-12.

Janet Satre, a neighbor who lived across the street from Mr. Harris, would spend a few hours every day having coffee and visiting with KM. JJ would always come over as well. RP 644. Ms. Satre testified that KM did so on November 6<sup>th</sup>. Ms. Satre remembers the date because the next day was her anniversary. RP 649. There was nothing out of the ordinary. It was a typical day with KM very talkative and friendly. KM did not seem at all agitated. RP 650.

# c. The court's exclusion of the security videotape taken the morning of the alleged assault.

KM claimed that she was sexually assaulted on the morning of November 6, 2013. She described an assault so traumatic that she was in shock and could not think straight to call the police until three days later. As noted above, when she did call the police, she was in hysterics.

In order to rebut the claim that Mr. Harris had sexually assaulted KM, the defense sought to introduce home-security videotape taken the same day. RP 214-16. The tape showed Mr. Harris, KM and JJ acting

and appearing normal when leaving the house an hour after the alleged abuse. RP 216, 220-21. Another part of the video showed them returning with takeout food. Defense counsel explained how that same segment then shows Mr. Harris leaving for work. "KM waves him back over and gives him a hug. And again, very inconsistent with an individual that is alleging abuse." RP 220. The video also showed KM coming back to the property two weeks later to retrieve more belongings. She does not bring the police and merely hops the fence. She does not appear fearful. RP 221.

The court initially ruled that the tape was not relevant. The court later said it might be relevant as impeachment, depending upon KM's testimony. RP 232. However, during an earlier interview, defense counsel had already showed KM the picture of her giving Mr. Harris a "big hug." At trial, she testified that she was so scared of Mr. Harris that she gave him the hug so that he would not know anything was wrong. RP 469. Later, however, when asked "Isn't it true that he was leaving and you called him back to you and then gave the hug?" KM responded, "I don't believe so. I don't know." RP 492. She then said she didn't remember. *Id*.

Outside the presence of the jury, defense counsel moved the court to allow the video to be played. Defense counsel pointed out that the images were different than the image painted by KM. RP 617. The court stated it would look at the video. *Id.* 

The next morning, the parties addressed the video issue again. Defense counsel stressed that it was admissible for more than just direct impeachment. "I think that visual of KM engaging with an individual that she has alleged has just molested her earlier that same day is absolutely essential for the jury to see." RP 633. The court disagreed:

The issue here isn't what happened out in the side area that's viewed from that camera. I still think that the defense will be able to argue their case, that the testimony of the witnesses shows something different than what KM may be asserting, but I don't think that at this point it goes to credibility or impeachment for the jury, so the motion is denied.

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