NO. 47477-8

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

DARREL HARRIS, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable Vicki Hogan

No. 14-1-00309-1

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By

CHELSEY MILLER Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 42892

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

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

⁸ Please see the State's argument in issue 1(c) for a more thorough analysis of this argument.

Relevant evidence "may be excluded if its probative values is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence." ER 403. A defendant's interest in presenting relevant evidence may "'bow to accommodate other legitimate interests in the criminal trial process.' *Rock v. Arkansas*, 483 U.S. 44, 55, 97 L. Ed. 2d 37, 107 S. Ct. 2704 (1987) (*quoting Chambers v. Mississippi*, 410 U.S. 284, 295, 35 L. Ed. 2d 297, 93 S. Ct. 1038 (1973)). The admission or refusal of evidence lies largely within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. *State v. Stubsjoen*, 48 Wn. App. 139, 147, 738 P.2d 306, *review denied*, 108 Wn.2d 1033 (1987).

a. <u>Defendant's home surveillance video</u>

During motions in limine, the State moved to exclude video of defendant's home surveillance cameras which showed an interaction between the defendant and K.M. shortly after the sexual assault took place. RP 214-220. Defendant objected, arguing that the evidence was relevant to show that K.M.'s behavior was not consistent with her anticipated testimony of her reaction after the sexual assault occurred. RP 215-222. The trial court granted the State's motion to exclude the evidence saying it "struggles with relevance" of the videos, but acknowledged that after K.M.'s testimony, the court would reconsider its ruling if defendant sought to admit the footage for purposes of impeachment. RP 222, 232-233; CP 46-49.

After K.M. had testified, defendant asked the court to reconsider its ruling regarding the videos arguing that although K.M. had testified and admitted all the events that occurred in the video, the videos were relevant and admissible for the jury to see her behavior. RP 616, 633. The State again argued against their admission on the basis that they would be misleading and irrelevant, reiterating that the video had no audio, showed only K.M.'s back in portions and did not dispute anything she had already testified to. RP 633-34. The court reviewed the video and again denied the defense motion, finding the video was not relevant to the ultimate issue in the case. RP 637.

Defendant argues the exclusion of this evidence denied him his constitutional right to present a defense. However, he did not raise this claim below and appears to be merely characterizing an evidentiary issue as a violation of his constitutional right to present a defense. *See State v. Lynn*, 67 Wn. App. 339, 346, 835 P.2d 251 (1992). Both the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution and article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution guarantee a criminal defendant's right to present a defense. *State v. Starbuck*, 189 Wn. App. 740, 751, 355 P.3d 1167 (2015) (*citing State v. Strizheus*, 163 Wn. App. 820, 829-30, 262 P.3d 100 (2011), *review denied*, 173 Wn.2d 1030, 274 P.3d 374 (2012)).

- 33 -

An erroneous evidentiary ruling that violates the defendant's constitutional rights is presumed prejudicial unless the State can show the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Franklin*, 180 Wn.2d 371, 377 n. 2, 325 P.3d 159 (2014). But, a criminal defendant does not have a constitutional right to present irrelevant or inadmissible evidence. *Starbuck*, 189 Wn. App. at 750. Furthermore, a defendant's constitutional right to present a defense is not necessarily impinged by a trial court's exclusion of minimally relevant evidence. *See State v. Summers*, 70 Wn. App. 424, 435, 853 P.2d 953 (1993).

In this case, the exclusion of the home surveillance video did not infringe upon the defendant's constitutional right to present a defense, and the trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding it as the video was of little to no relevance to the ultimate issues in the case and cumulative. Defense counsel questioned K.M. in detail about her behavior and actions after the sexual assault took place. RP 468-70, 492. K.M. did not deny that she "acted normal" and gave defendant a hug despite her claim that she had just been sexually assaulted by him. RP 468-70, 492. The video itself contained no audio and did not contradict anything K.M. testified to. RP 632-34.

Defendant had the video for over a year and he chose what clips to include. The State did not receive the video until two weeks before the trial and was unable to have a law enforcement technical person review the system. RP 218-22. Allowing the jury to view video of something

- 34 -

that a person has already testified to and allowing the parties to go into detail about the credibility concerns of the video would be redundant and serve only to confuse, delay and mislead the jury about the issues in the case. The trial court was specifically concerned with this saying "I don't want a trial on these videos" and properly excluded them as there were of little to no relevance and appropriately excludable under ER 403. RP 222.

For the same reasons the trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding the videos, the exclusion did not infringe upon the defendant's constitutional right to present a defense. It is not sufficient when raising a constitutional issue for the first time on appeal to merely identify a constitutional error and then require the state to prove it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Because defendant is unable to show the exclusion of the video infringed on his constitutional right to present a defense, he is unable to show a manifest constitutional error as required for review under RAP 2.5(a)(3). Thus, this Court should initially decline to review this claim of constitutional error for this reason.

However, even if the exclusion of the video was an error, any error was harmless. Defendant was allowed to confront and cross-examine K.M. about her behavior after the sexual assault. RP 468-70, 492. The video showed nothing she had not already testified to and admitted. 468-70, 492. Defendant was able to question the credibility of K.M. by her own admission of her behavior. The exclusion of the video did not deny him the right to argue that point to the jury and he in fact did so during his

- 35 -

closing argument. 2/24/15 RP 78-82. Any error in the exclusion of the video was harmless.

b. <u>Defense investigator</u>

During the trial, defendant sought to have a defense investigator testify about the layout of defendant's home, doorway locations and the measurements of some distances he took after K.M. and J.J. had moved out. RP 618-19. The State objected to the witness arguing that his testimony was cumulative as defendant was going to testify about his home which included photographs he had taken of various locations inside. RP 619-21. The trial court ruled that if defendant was going to testify, the testimony of the defense investigator would be cumulative as the investigator would not add anything that the defendant could not provide. RP 621. The court also clarified that in the event the defendant chose not to testify, the defense investigator could testify to his observations. RP 621.

Defendant now claims that the trial court abused its discretion in precluding the defense investigator from testifying as he was a "non-party witness who had conducted an independent investigation." Brief of Appellant at 37. However, the trial court properly excluded the evidence under ER 403 as the little to no probative value the defense investigator's testimony would have provided was substantially outweighed by the needless presentation of cumulative evidence.

First, the individual was a defense investigator and the trial court correctly pointed out that aside from testifying about his observations in the home, "[h]e would have to suffer through hired guns and bias" so he was not a "non-party" witness whose credibility would not be questioned. RP 621. In addition, his investigation took place after K.M. and J.J. had moved out so he could not testify to the location of furniture or whether there were doors on any of the rooms when the sexual assaults took place. RP 619-21. Defendant was able to testify about all of that, drawing a floor plan and even providing photographs he had taken of the various rooms. RP 664-74. Because defendant chose to testify, the defense investigator's testimony had little to no probative value. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in precluding the defense investigator's testimony as any probative value was substantially outweighed by the needless presentation of cumulative evidence under ER 403. For these same reasons, even if the trial court erred in excluding the defense investigator for some reason, because his testimony would not have added anything the defendant had not already testified to, the exclusion was harmless.

4. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT VIOLATE DEFENDANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS WHEN IT ASKED HIM TO REMAIN EMOTIONLESS AFTER HE WAS IMPROPERLY ATTEMPTING TO INFLUENCE THE COURT AND THE JURY.

Both the State and Federal Constitutions guarantee a defendant the fundamental right to be present at all critical stages of a trial. *State v.*

Irby, 170 Wn.2d 874, 880, 246 P.3d 796 (2011). Courts have also recognized that a defendant is entitled to the physical indicia of innocence which includes the right to be brought before the court with the appearance, dignity and self-respect of a free and innocent man. State v. Finch, 137 Wn.2d 792, 844, 975 P.2d 967 (1999). The right to be present is not absolute however, and when a defendant misbehaves in a courtroom, the trial judge "must be given sufficient discretion" to determine the appropriate course of action. State v. Fualaau, 155 Wn. App. 347, 360-61, 228 P.3d 771 (2010) (citing Illinois v. Allen, 397 U.S. 337, 343, 90 S. Ct. 1057, 25 L. Ed. 2d 353 (1970). "No one formula for maintaining the appropriate courtroom atmosphere will be best in all situations." Id. Similarly, while defendant has a constitutional right to appear free from restraints or shackles of any kind, such a right may yield in the interest of courtroom safety, security, and decorum. State v. Walker, 185 Wn. App. 790, 800, 344 P.3d 227 (2015), review denied, 185 Wn.2d 1025, 355 P.3d 1154 (2015). Whether the trial court violated a defendant's right to be present is reviewed de novo. Irby, 170 Wn.2d at 880.

Defendant in the present case argues that the trial court violated his constitutional rights when it ordered the defendant to remain emotionless in court as this limited his ability to appear before the jury. Brief of Appellant at 39. The court made the order during the trial when the jury was in recess and the parties were discussing a foundational issue regarding J.J.'s testimony. The judge told defense counsel:

tell your client to quit emoting. I don't want him nodding or agreeing or trying to send the Court a clue, not only to me but to the jury -- ... with regard to what is being said in the courtroom. That applies to all the viewing public. Everybody has to remain emotionless.

RP 377. Defense counsel agreed to speak with the defendant. RP 377. Defense counsel never objected to the court's request to have defendant get his behavior under control or argued that that was somehow a violation of defendant's constitutional rights. On appeal, defendant fails to argue how this was a manifest error affecting a constitutional right under RAP 2.5(a)(3). This court should decline to review the issue because defendant failed to preserve it below and fails to show it is manifest constitutional error which may be raised for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a).

Even if this court were to review the issue however, defendant's claim that the trial court's request was unjustified and prejudicial to the defendant is without merit. At the end of the day, outside of the presence of the jury after K.M. and J.J. had concluded their testimony, the State made a record about defendant shaking his head, laughing under his breath and smirking while K.M. was testifying. RP 497. Defense counsel told the court that he had told his client to remain emotionless and he did not believe the defendant was doing anything intentional, but he would remind him again. RP 497-98. The court stated that it was very clear that

- 39 -

morning that it wanted everyone to get themselves under control and the defendant had not been able to do that. The court stated:

If it continues, the Court shall declare a mistrial because that's exactly why this is happening. [The prosecutor] has made an accurate record of what's going on. The Court has observed it through the entire trial. I had it this morning with him trying to give me advice by indicating what he thought that I should do based upon what you were presenting to the Court. Not acceptable.

RP 498-99. Given this, the trial court's earlier request that defense counsel ask his client to remain emotionless was proper in light of the defendant's inappropriate behavior in court.

Furthermore, defendant is unable to show he was prejudiced by the court's request that he remain emotionless. The defendant's federal and state constitutional right to be present and appear free from restraints before the jury was never implicated by the court's request that he remain emotionless. Those constitutional rights exist to ensure the defendant receives a fair and impartial trial. There is absolutely nothing in the record to suggest that the trial court's limitation of defendant's inappropriate behavior erroneously influenced the jury's determination of his guilt. Defendant's claim is without merit.

5. DEFENDANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO RELIEF UNDER THE CUMULATIVE ERROR DOCTRINE.

The doctrine of cumulative error is the counter balance to the doctrine of harmless error. Harmless error is based on the premise that

"an otherwise valid conviction should not be set aside if the reviewing court may confidently say, on the whole record, that the constitutional error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." *Rose v. Clark*, 478 U.S. 570, 577, 106 S. Ct. 3101, 92 L. Ed. 2d 460 (1986). The central purpose of a criminal trial is to determine guilt or innocence. *Id.* "Reversal for error, regardless of its effect on the judgment, encourages litigants to abuse the judicial process and bestirs the public to ridicule it." *Neder v. United States*, 527 U.S. 1, 18, 119 S. Ct. 1827, 1838, 144 L. Ed. 2d 35 (1999) (internal quotation omitted). A defendant is entitled to a fair trial but not a perfect one, for "there are no perfect trials." *Brown v. United States*, 411 U.S. 223, 232, 93 S. Ct. 1565, 36 L. Ed. 2d 208 (1973).

Allowing for harmless error promotes public respect for the law and the criminal process by ensuring a defendant gets a fair trial, but not requiring or highlighting the fact that all trials inevitably contain errors. *Rose*, 478 U.S. at 577. Thus, the harmless error doctrine allows the court to affirm a conviction when the court can determine that the error did not contribute to the verdict that was obtained. *Id.* at 578; *see also State v. Kitchen*, 110 Wn.2d 403, 409, 756 P.2d 105 (1988) ("The harmless error rule preserves an accused's right to a fair trial without sacrificing judicial economy in the inevitable presence of immaterial error.").

The doctrine of cumulative error, however, recognizes the reality that sometimes numerous errors, each of which standing alone might have been harmless error, can combine to deny a defendant not only a perfect trial, but also a fair trial. In re Lord, 123 Wn.2d 296, 332, 868 P.2d 835 (1994); State v. Coe, 101 Wn.2d 772, 789, 681 P.2d 1281 (1984); see also State v. Johnson, 90 Wn. App. 54, 74, 950 P.2d 981, 991 (1998) ("although none of the errors discussed above alone mandate reversal...."). The analysis is intertwined with the harmless error doctrine in that the type of error will affect the court's weighing those errors. State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 93-94, 882 P.2d 747 (1994), cert. denied, 574 U.S. 1129, 115 S. Ct. 2004, 131 L. Ed. 2d 1005 (1995). There are two dichotomies of harmless errors that are relevant to the cumulative error doctrine. First, there are constitutional and nonconstitutional errors. Constitutional errors have a more stringent harmless error test, and therefore they will weigh more on the scale when accumulated. See, Id. Conversely, nonconstitutional errors have a lower harmless error test and weigh less on the scale. See, Id. Second, there are errors that are harmless because of the strength of the untainted evidence, and there are errors that are harmless because they were not prejudicial. Errors that are harmless because of the weight of the untainted evidence can add up to cumulative error. See, e.g., Johnson, 90 Wn. App. at 74. Conversely, errors that

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